E-1108PS

## COURT OF APPEALS CAUSE NO. 68127-3-I consolidated with No. 68522-8-I

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## MADERA WEST CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASS'N, ET AL.

### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioners are the Madera West Condominium Owners Association and individual homeowners named as plaintiffs in the underlying action (collectively "Association"), and seek review Court of Appeals ("COA") decision No. 68127-3-I (consolidated with) No. 68522-8-I filed July 1, 2013, and motion to reconsider the same. Appendix A-B.

#### INTRODUCTION

Under the Washington Condominium Act ("WCA"), which is a consumer protection statute, every developer/declarant of a condominium conversion must prepare a Public Offering Statement for future purchasers, and include therein, a reserve study prepared by an independent licensed architect or engineer. The issue before the COA was whether the architect who prepares the reserve study required by the WCA that is to be included in the POS, has a duty of care to an Association that is independent of any duty of care it owes the declarant with whom it contracts with to prepare the study. The Association argued that Marx/Okubo ("Okubo"), the architect hired by the declarant in this instance, did. Although Okubo contracted with the declarant to prepare the study for the POS, it owed the Association a duty of care as a third-party with a legally protected interest in the condominium. The COA disagreed.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Should the Association's petition be accepted because the COA's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Affiliated</u> i.e. do architects owe a similar duty of care as engineers to third persons with whom they do not have a contractual relationship?
- 2. Should the Association's petition be accepted because the COA's decision undermines the consumer protection mechanisms in the WCA, forcing condominium owners associations or its members to bear the all of the responsibility for an unscrupulous architect's work?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of the conversion of the Forrest Village Apartments to the Madera West Condominiums ("Madera West"), which is a 172 unit condominium conversion located in Federal Way.

In 1996, a class action lawsuit was certified against the manufacturer of LP Siding. CP 1526. Mr. Richard Senn, the former owner of Forrest Village, hired Marx/Okubo in 1996 to evaluate Madera West for purposes of opting into the LP Siding lawsuit. CP 1520, 1525. Okubo prepared a report for Mr. Senn explaining that approximately 35% of LP Siding at Forrest Village, was "damaged" and needed to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> LP Siding was known to swell, expand, and absorb an abnormal level of moisture that caused it to fail prematurely and as a consequence of the action, was widely regarded as a defective product. CP 1526; CP 1520.

"replaced". CP 1541.<sup>2</sup> The report further explained several areas of the siding and other building components were not installed properly.<sup>3</sup> CP 1521.

In January of 2005, Okubo visited the Forrest Village Apartments a second time. This time Okubo was hired by A.F. Evans Development, Inc. AF Evans was one of the members of the declarant for Madera West, Madera West, LLC ("MW, LLC"). Okubo was hired to review the project for purposes of converting it to condominiums, and to assist MW, LLC in fulfilling the requirements of the WCA, which required every POS it delivered to include, "(a) ... a report prepared by an independent, licensed **architect** or engineer, or a statement by the declarant based on such report... (c) a statement by the declarant of the expected useful life of each item reported in subsection (a)..."). RCW 64.34.415 (a) and (c); App. F. According to Okubo, a "Proposal" titled

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Okubo defined the term "damaged" in its Report as follows:

To designate siding that is in noticeably poor condition. To be considered damaged, a board was approaching greater than .54" in thickness, <u>and</u> had a moisture content of > 28% <u>or</u> exhibited 'checking' as defined by the American Plywood Association [reference omitted]. In addition, failure could also be determined if siding was buckling or had become soft due to rot [reference omitted]. If such conditions exist in any portion of a 16' board, the entire board is considered defective and must be replaced.

CP 1528. (Bold added, underline in original).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, the 1996 report said, "the siding considered damaged should be removed and a new moisture barrier (building paper or other building wrap) installed..." CP 1521.

"Architectural/Engineering Due Diligence" and a copy of its standard terms and conditions made up its agreement with AF Evans. CP 756-772.

Okubo prepared a Property Condition Assessment for the benefit of AF Evans/MW, LLC and the Association. The findings made therein were hardly consistent with those made in Okubo's 1996 report. Rather than identify that one third of Madera West needed to be repaired, the assessment said the siding was performing, and there was some limited damage in isolated areas. CP 1438. <sup>5</sup> Okubo knew, at a minimum, the information contained in its assessment would serve as a basis for MW, LLC's WCA mandated disclosures in the POS. <sup>6</sup>

After preparing the assessment, Okubo prepared for the POS and benefit of the Association, a reserve study. CP 1499-1516. The purpose

CP 1429.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The assessment also failed to mention the siding was "LP" or a known defective product. Instead it referred to it only as "engineered wood". CP 1438.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Property Assessment says,

It is our understanding that A. F. Evans Development, Inc. plans on converting Forrest Village to condominiums...[t]his report is intended to provide the basis for a statement by A.F. Evans Development, Inc., the 'declarant', as described in RCW 64.34.415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Not only does the reserve study say it was prepared for the benefit of the Association, officers of AF Evans were members of the Madera West Condominium Association, which was incorporated when the reserve study was issued. CP 1496.

of the Reserve Study was to,

[P]rovide a forward projection of major costs of repairs and replacements that the Forest Village Homeowners Association [Madera West Condominium Owners Association] should anticipate in planning and budgeting a reserve fund.

CP 1499. Although the reserve study was prepared for the express purpose of helping the Association establish and adequately fund a reserve account, and despite Okubo's extensive knowledge of the damage at Madera West, the study did not consider the condition of the property in preparing its study. <u>Id.</u>

When the Association later found out about the actual condition of Madera West, it realized it had not collected anywhere near the amount of money it needed to make necessary repairs. CP 1395-97, 1564-66. Using Okubo's projections, monthly homeowner dues were initially set three times lower than they should have been set at.<sup>8</sup> See id. ¶ 6-7.

The Association filed a lawsuit against MW LLC on March 4, 2009. Based on discovery and this Court's opinion in <u>Affiliated</u>, it later amended its complaint to add Okubo as a defendant, asserting against it claims for professional negligence and negligent misrepresentation, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Association understood it was purchasing a conversion condominium that would need to be maintained and repaired on a more aggressive schedule than a brand new condominium.

seeking to recover the economic loss caused by its failure to prepare a reserve study using reasonable care.

The trial court dismissed all claims against Okubo on December 9, 2012. The Association filed a limited motion for reconsideration on the issues of whether Okubo owed it a duty, and whether it had standing to pursue its own negligence claim. The motion was denied. CP 1665-1667.

On appeal, the COA affirmed the trial court, except that it did find the Association had standing to sue Okubo on behalf of two or more unit owners. App. A at 10. The Association moved for reconsideration; that motion was denied on August 8, 2013. App. B.

#### ARGUMENT

### A. Okubo owes a duty of care to the Association.

The concept of duty can be divided into three inquiries: (1) By whom is the duty owed? (2) To whom is it owed? (3) What is the nature of the duty or the standard of care? Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc., 80 Wash.App. 862, 866, 912 P.2d 1044 (1996); citing Petersen v. State, 100 Wash.2d 421, 425-26, 671 P.2d 230 (1983). "The answer to the second question defines the class protected by the duty and the answer to the third question defines the standard of care." Keller v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> At least two of the <u>Schooley</u> inquiries on duty are undisputed here: who owed the duty? Okubo; and what the standard of care is; Okubo was required to act with "reasonable care

City of Spokane, 146 Wash.2d 237, 243, 44 P.3d 845 (2002).

The Association's appeal focused on the second Schooley inquiry, or whether the scope of an architect's duty of care extends to third parties with whom they do not have a contract. This inquiry may be decided as a matter of law where the answer is in a statute or case law. Alhadeff v. Meridian on Bainbridge Island, LLC, 167 Wash.2d 601, 220 P.3d 1214 (2009). But if the answer is based on foreseeability, it is ordinarily a question of fact. Christen v. Lee, 113 Wn.2d 479, 492, 780 P.2d 1307 (1989) (The concept of foreseeability determines the scope of the duty owed); Hansen v. Friend, 118 Wash. 2d 476, 483, 824 P.2d 483 (1992) (whether duty was owed to minor depends upon foreseeability of harm; since foreseeability is ordinarily a question of fact for jury, the Court of Appeals erred in granting summary judgment to defendants); see also Wells v. City of Vancouver, 77 Wash.2d 800, 802-803, 467 P.2d 292 (1970) (The element of foreseeability plays a large part in determining the scope of defendant's duty).

1. <u>Affiliated</u> expressly mentions architects owe a duty of care to third persons even in the absence of contractual relationship.

and competence, and must apply the technical knowledge and skill which is ordinarily applied by architects of good standing, practicing in the same locality." WAC 308-12-330(1)(a).

The COA did not find Affiliated FM Ins. Co. v. LTK Consulting Services., Inc., 170 Wn.2d 442, 243 P.3d 521 (2010) instructive on the issue of whether a duty exists between the Association and Okubo, but Affiliated confirms Washington recognizes that one does. Affiliated, 170 Wn.2d at 451-454, citing G.W. Construction Corp. v. Professional Service Industries, Inc., 70 Wn. App. 360, 366, 853 P.2d 484 (1993); quoting Feinman, Professional Liability to Third Parties § 11.3.1, at 228 (2000)( ("Most courts have extended liability to architects and engineers by applying the ordinary law of negligence."); Stuart M. Speiser et al., The American Law of Torts § 15:117, at 852 (1987)("It is well settled, in the modern law, that architects or engineers may be subject to liability for property loss or damage resulting from defective designs, specifications, plans, drawings, supervision and administration, and the like.") (bold added). In holding that an engineer owed a duty of care to a licensee of the Seattle Monorail/a third party that had a property interest in the monorail but did not have contract with the engineer, this Court relied on authority findings the liability of architects and engineers analogous.

The COA, however, did not interpret <u>Affiliated</u> to apply to architects, reasoning it applies only to engineers, which seemingly lacks merit. App. A at 18. Both architects and engineers require special training

and certification by the State, and significantly, RCW 64.34.415 allows a licensed engineer or architect to prepare the critical reports it requires.

The COA also distinguished in particular the G.W. Construction Corp. case cited by this Court in Affiliated to explain the Association only had a possible claim for negligent misrepresentation under these facts. In G.W. Constr. the court held a building inspector/engineer owed a duty of care to a subcontractor because they had a contractual relationship. While there is no contract between the Association and Okubo, G.W. Constr. lends support to the Association in a broader sense - it confirms a design professional performing a building inspection has a duty to use reasonable care, and the failure to do so may expose it to claims for negligence and negligent misrepresentation. See id. at 366; Key Dev. Inv., LLC v. Port of Tacoma, 173 Wn. App. 1, 292 P.3d 833 (2012) (The applicable standard of care may include the duty not to make a negligent misrepresentation, but the claims are still actionable separately). As this Court explained in G.W. Constr., if an attorney is hired to draft a will and fails to do it, he can be sued for breach of contract. If the same attorney drafts a will, but faisl to have it executed in front of a witness, he can be sued for professional negligence. Here, Okubo did not only knowingly misrepresent the condition of the property in its reports, it failed to prepare a meaningful reserve study using the same care that an architect acting reasonably under Page 9

similar circumstances would have. No architect using ordinary care would prepare a reserve study that failed to consider the condition of a project, especially knowing as a matter of fact that nine years earlier, one third of its siding and building components needed to be repaired and replaced. App. A, 20; CP 1591 at ¶ 9.

# 2. Does an architect assume a tort law duty of reasonable care independent of its contractual obligations?

Even if this Court's express mention of architects along with engineers in the Affiliated decision is only dicta, following the reasoning of that case, one can only conclude a duty of care exists between the Association and Okubo. To decide if the law imposes a duty of care (and to determine the duty's measure and scope) the courts weigh "considerations of 'logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent[]' "a/k/a the "duty considerations". Id. at 449 quoting Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Wash., 145 Wn.2d 233, 243, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001); Lords v. N. Auto. Corp., 75 Wn. App. 589, 596, 881 P.2d 256 (1994). Courts will find a duty where reasonable persons would recognize it, and agree that it exists. Tallariti v. Kildare, 63 Wash.App. 453, 820 P.2d 952 (1991). Here, logic and common sense dictate that the Association would rely on Okubo's reserve study because it expressly said that it was prepared for the benefit of the Association, and the WCA

permits the Association to rely on the POS. CP 1499; RCW 64.34.410-15; see also One Pac. Towers Homeowners' Ass'n v. Hal Real Estate Invs., 148 Wn.2d 319, 61 P.3d 1094 (2002) (seller of a condominium must provide a POS to purchaser, and failure to do so is breach of the WCA).

## 3. What is the measure of an architect's duty of care?

The Court said that Okubo did not owe a statutory duty of care to the Association because it did not explain how such a duty exists under WAC 308-12-330(1)(a). However, WAC 308-12-330(1)(a) speaks for itself. It mandates that an architect, "... must act with reasonable care and competence, and must apply the technical knowledge and skill which is ordinarily applied by architects of good standing, practicing in the same locality." State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600, 115 P.3d 281 (2005) (Where a statute's meaning is plain, we give effect to that plain meaning as the expression of the legislature's intent.) Okubo/Mr. Allan Thunder prepared and indorsed the study as an "AIA" or licensed architect, and Okubo entered into an agreement with AF Evans to provide "architectural' services required by a consumer protection statute i.e. WCA. CP 1501.

To deny Okubo had a statutory duty, the COA compared this to case <u>Burg. v. Shannon & Wilson, Inc.</u>, 110 Wn. App. 798, 43 P.3d 526 (2002). But <u>Burg</u> is distinguishable. In discussing whether engineers owed a statutory duty to third parties, the COA looked at RCW 18.43.010,110-Page 11

15, and WAC 196-27A-010-020. But none of these statutes contains a provision similar to WAC 308-12-330(1)(a) describing precisely the standard of care an architect must use at all times. 11 App. D-F.

When a design professional is performing architectural services, it must use reasonable care and competence. There is no limiting language in WAC 308-12-330(1)(a) to suggest otherwise.

# 4. Does the scope of Okubo's duty encompass the Association?

A duty's scope is determined by looking at the class of persons or harm encompassed by a duty of care. It is "necessarily a judgment built on the duty considerations, and so the reasons for recognizing that a class of people or risks of harm is within the scope of a duty are often the same reasons for recognizing a duty of care in the first instance." Affiliated, 170 Wn.2d at 455; see also HAL, 148 Wn.2d at 331, quoting COMMON INTEREST, Official Comment 1 to RCW,

[t]he best 'consumer protection' that the law can provide to any purchaser is to ensure that such purchaser has an opportunity to acquire an understanding of the nature of the products which it is purchasing.

The reserve study says,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> <u>Burg</u> is also distinguishable because it discussed the duty owed by engineers to third parties, not architects. It is paradoxical for the COA to read <u>Affiliated</u> to apply only to engineers, but extend <u>Burg</u> to architects.

The purpose of this survey is to provide a forward projection of major costs of repairs and replacements that the Forest Village Homeowners Association [Madera West Condominium Owners Association] should anticipate in planning and budgeting for a reserve fund. It is our understanding that it is the intent of A.F. Evans to convert the property to condominiums.

CP 1499. The Association is not arguing the duty extends to an indeterminate class of persons. The Association is arguing that a jury could most certainly find that Okubo owed it a duty of care looking at express language of the study and the "duty considerations", and therefore it falls within the scope of persons harmed by the study, particularly where the study was part of the POS prescribed by the legislature to protect it.

While this Court has touched on the duty of an architect to condominium owners before, it has never done so in this context. In Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 799 P.2d 250 (1990), the plaintiffs' claim for negligent design was denied because they failed to show the architect "breached any duty of care and that such breach was the proximate cause of the alleged damages." Id. at 534. At the time Atherton was decided, this Court had not recognized a duty between engineers and architects in the context of a claim against third parties for economic loss. 12 This Court has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Atherton, 115 Wn.2d at 534 fn.17. Owners also fail to articulate a recognizable negligence claim. Owners do not demonstrate what, if any, duty Westlin owed to them.

since the <u>Atherton</u> decision in 1990, acknowledged that such duty may exist. <u>Eastwood v. Harbor Horse Found.</u>, 170 Wn.2d 380, 393-94, 242 P.3d 825 (2010).

Atherton is further distinguishable from this case because this is not a claim for negligent design, and therefore does not involve any intermediary party - the loss in Atherton was caused by the failure of the contractor to follow the architect's drawings. Id. at 534. Here, Okubo prepared the reserve study directly for the benefit of the Association.

Atherton was decided 23 years ago and much has changed since then – particularly the economic climate and rise of condominium conversions versus new construction, and <u>Affiliated</u> sets forth an analytical framework that can very well be applied to architects in more current context.

# 5. The COA and trial court erred when they determined the record did not show Okubo was negligent.

The COA, while recognizing the possibility of a negligent misrepresentation claim on the facts of this case, fails to look at the reserve study independent of the property assessment. Key Dev. Inv., LLC, 173 Wn. App. at 1 (An applicable standard of care may include the duty not to make a negligent misrepresentation, but the claims are still

<sup>[</sup>the] Owners appear to seek only economic loss damages which are not recoverable under tort law."

actionable separately). Rather than focus on the threshold duty issue, the COA and trial courts answered the question of whether Okubo had a duty to the Association by looking at whether there was evidence that Okubo violated any standard of care. Not only is the latter a question of fact<sup>13</sup>, it puts the cart before the horse. The most obvious example of this is the COA's failure to address the issue of foreseeability entirely. See generally App. A. at 17-22.

Okubo conceded at oral argument that it should have been granted summary judgment if the reserve study had listed the correct name of the Association (i.e. had it said "Madera West Condominium Owners Association" instead of "Forrest Village Homeowners Association"). App. C, 14-15, admitting the Association was the intended recipient of its study, CP 1499; 381. Noting this concession, the COA should have determined that Okubo assumed a duty to the Association.

6. Does an architect's duty of care extend to the Association and persons who have a property interest in the reserve account?

The Association has an interest greater than or equal to the licensee in <u>Affiliated</u> in the reserve account. The Association has the exclusive right to create and administer the reserve account in its own name, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Eastwood, 170 Wn.2d at 398, 242 P.3d 825 (2010) (causation is an issue of fact).

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  The Association's expert testified Okubo did not act reasonably. CP 1591 at  $\P$  9.

every owner at Madera West grants the Association a license to manage the reserve account by operation of the law/the WCA. RCW 64.34.380 et seq.; App. G.

The COA dismissed the Association's right to pursue a negligence claim on its own behalf for the damage to the reserve account acknowledging the Association has some interest in the reserves, but not a "protectable interest" as described in Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 812, 225 P.3d 213 (2009). But as this Court pointed out in Affiliated, SMS's legally protected interest derived from the "right and privilege to maintain and exclusively operate" the Monorail System. Affiliated, 170 Wn.2d at 459 (italics in original, underline added). 15

- B. The decision to deny that a duty exists between Okubo and the Association is a matter of public interest affecting every condominium owner in this State.
  - 1. The COA's ruling strips owners of any recourse against an architect who produces a worthless study.

A declarant must produce a property report and reserve study in the Public Offering Statement ("POS") for a condominium conversion. WCA 64.34.415; App. F. The reports must be prepared by a design

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This decision may lead to an absurd circumstance where the Association could not, for example, pursue a claim for embezzlement without owner approval even though the reserve account must be made in its name.

professional, which may be an architect or engineer. The failure to deliver the foregoing is considered a failure to deliver a POS. RCW 64.34.405. The reason a declarant is compelled to produce these reports is to make buyers aware of the condition of the property, to provide them prepurchase notice of the likely cost of future repairs, and equally important, how much their monthly homeowner dues will be. See HAL, 148 Wn.2d at 331; CP 1566.

In this instance, Madera West LLC did provide the report and reserve study required by law in the POS. Both were prepared by a licensed architect/Okubo. In providing the mandated disclosures, MW LLC assumed that Okubo's reports provided meaningful and accurate information necessary to satisfy the intent of the WCA; unfortunately, that was not the case. CP 1688 at ¶ 4.

The COA's decision provides developers a road map on how to commit perpetual fraud upon the tens of thousands of condominium owners in the State of Washington. "The concept of duty is a reflection of all those considerations of public policy which lead the law to conclude that a 'plaintiff's interests are entitled to legal protection against the defendant's conduct.' "Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wash.2d 159, 168, 759 P.2d 447 (1988) (quoting W. PAGE KEETON, ET AL., PROSSER AND KEETON ON TORTS § 53, at 357 (5th ed.1984)). Developers can Page 17

retain an architect to produce reports just to satisfy the statute, and without an eye towards their accuracy. If the declarant is sued, he will argue he justifiably relied on the architect to use reasonable care in performing his work. The architect will respond, under the current law, he had no obligation to use such care, and even if he did, he is not liable to a third party for failure to do so unless it can show clear and convincing evidence that he provided false information. ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick, 135 Wn.2d 820, 826, 959 P.2d 651 (1998) (a claim for negligent misrepresentation must be established by clear and convincing evidence). 21

The above described scenario is exactly what happened here. To deflect liability for the negligently prepared reports, Okubo argues the responsibility for producing accurate information falls on MW LLC, who along with its selling agent duped the COA. Okubo argues it has no responsibility for its failures to comply with the standard of care set out in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 366 at 3-7 v. 380-81 at 8-10. Okubo originally testified that it was not aware the project was a conversion when preparing its reports, but admitter later it did.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> There is no other design professional in Washington that enjoys this type of immunity not engineers, not builders, not contractors, not developers, not even real estate appraisers. <u>Affiliated, supra; Jackson v. City of Seattle, 158 Wn. App. 647; 244 P.3d 425 (2010); Davis v. Baugh Indus. Contractors, 159 Wn.2d 413, 150 P.3d 545 (2007); Schaaf v. Highfield, 127 Wn.2d 17; 896 P.2d 665 (1995).</u>

WAC 308-12-330(1)(a) and/or applicable case law because Madera West only commissioned a limited investigation. CP 673 17:18-19, 20-21: 13-1.

But Okubo's imposed limitation excuse is spurious, and it should be held independently liable for its work and failures to meet industry standards, particularly where the WCA singles out architects as one of the only design professionals capable of preparing such mandatory disclosures. CP 1591 at ¶ 9.<sup>22</sup> The legislature put its faith in Okubo to advise the Association that it visited this very same project nine years ago, and that the damage it discovered back then could have only worsened. CP 1541, 1528. That any new study that did not take into consideration the condition of the property did not effectively advise purchasers of the future cost of necessary maintenance and repairs, or their monthly dues. CP 1499. Without Okubo using the discretion given to it under the WCA, the Association, not the declarant, is forced to shoulder the burden of Okubo's careless work.<sup>23</sup>

2. The deleterious effects of the COA's decision go beyond the facts of this case as condominium associations are required by law to get annual reserve studies.

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