RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 07, 2013, 10:28 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 89306-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MADERA WEST CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Petitioners,

٧.

MARX/OKUBO, LTD., a Washington corporation,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth G. Yalowitz, WSBA 12017 Amber L. Hardwick, WSBA 41828 Natalya P. Maze, WSBA 43099 Attorneys for Respondent Marx/Okubo, Ltd.

GREEN & YALOWITZ, PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Ste. 2010 Seattle, WA 98101-4087 206-622-1400 206-583-2707 (fax) kgy@gyseattle.com

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Plaintiffs assert review should be granted because (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by this Court; and (2) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. Neither argument has merit, therefore the Petition for Review should be denied.

A. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied a Duty Analysis Consistent with This Court's Decision in Affiliated

Marx/Okubo and plaintiffs were strangers and no basis exists to impose a duty on Marx/Okubo to plaintiffs. To survive summary judgment plaintiffs were obligated to demonstrate Marx/Okubo owed a duty to them. The uncontroverted facts establish plaintiffs had no relationship with Marx/Okubo. Marx/Okubo was retained by a real estate professional to perform a property assessment for the professional's exclusive use in evaluating the purchase and potential conversion of an apartment complex to condominiums, and to prepare a Reserve Study for the real estate professional to use to establish

maintenance reserves. It is undisputed Marx/Okubo's contract prohibited distribution of Marx/Okubo's work product beyond the real estate professional who retained Marx/Okubo. Marx/Okubo's reports indicated they were prepared for use by Marx/Okubo's client. Neither report mentions the Madera West Condominiums, the Madera West Owners' Association or Madera West LLC. On these undisputed facts the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's conclusion Marx/Okubo owed no duty to plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs are wrong when they argue the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the lead opinion in Affiliated FM Insurance Co. v. LTK Consulting Services, Inc., 170 Wn.2d 442, 243 P.3d 521 (2010). Plaintiffs assert the Court of Appeals determined Affiliated applies to engineers but not architects. Plaintiffs mis-read the Court of Appeals opinion. The Court of Appeals applied a standard duty analysis and found Marx/Okubo owed no duty to plaintiffs on the facts presented. The Court concluded: "Nor can we find in this record any explanation why the COA [defined by the Court to include all plaintiffs] is within the scope of the duty owed by this professional firm for the professional negligence claim." Unpublished Decision, Court of Appeals No. 68127-3-I, at p. 121.

The Court of Appeals went on to reject plaintiffs' effort to characterizing their claims as "professional negligence" claims to avoid

the heightened evidentiary standard (clear and convincing evidence) applicable to negligent misrepresentation claims. The Court of Appeals noted that, unlike the defendant in Affiliated, Marx/Okubo was not accused of negligently performing professional design services; rather, plaintiffs alleged Marx/Okubo made negligent misrepresentations in a property condition assessment and reserve study that plaintiffs never should have received. The Court reasoned:

The COA fails to point to anything in this record to explain that these reports are "negligent because they breach a professional duty owed rather than a duty not to negligently misrepresent something"

These are not mere technicalities. To the extent the COA seeks to rely on <u>Affiliated</u> where the tort claim appears to have been one for professional negligence, not negligent misrepresentation, these failings are critical. Specifically, this case is essentially a case based on negligent misrepresentation, not professional negligence. Thus, there is no basis to rely on the lead opinion in <u>Affiliated</u>, a professional negligence case. That case is distinguishable.

Unpublished Decision, Court of Appeals No. 68127-3-I, at 21 (footnote omitted).

The Court of Appeals properly applied duty considerations identified by this Court to find Marx/Okubo owed no duty to plaintiffs. It correctly distinguished <u>Affiliated</u>, which involved alleged negligent engineering designs from the alleged negligent misrepresentations made in a condition assessment and reserve study at issue here.

Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with the plurality decision in Affiliated, not in conflict with it as plaintiffs contend.

B. <u>Plaintiffs' Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.</u>

Plaintiffs argue the Court of Appeals decision will have a broad deleterious impact on condominium owners throughout the state. The argument has no merit. The Court of Appeals decision is unpublished. The decision was not published because the facts presented are unique with little likelihood of repetition.

First, it is undisputed Marx/Okubo and Evans Development agreed Marx/Okubo's reports would <u>not</u> be distributed to comply with RCW 64.34.410. The condominium statute requires developers to include in Public Offering Statements either a description of the condition of the property prepared by the developer <u>or</u> an assessment report prepared by an architect or engineer. Evans Development was only authorized to use the report to prepare its own RCW 64.34.410 disclosure.¹

Second, Marx/Okubo's reports made clear they were prepared for use by Marx/Okubo's client, and neither report contained any reference to the Madera West Condominiums, the project in which

¹ The distinction is critical because Evans Development limited the scope of services to be provided by Marx/Okubo (CP 756) and made representations to Marx/Okubo specifically related to the siding at issue that formed the basis of Marx/Okubo's recommendations. (CP 879-80, 895).

plaintiffs <u>now</u> have some interest. Rather, plaintiffs contend they relied upon reports that contained no reference to (a) the names of the declarant selling condominium units to them; (b) the name of condominium project they were purchasing units in; or (c) the name of their condominium owners' association.

Third, the improper conduct of Marx/Okubo's client was compounded by the improper actions of the declarant from which plaintiffs purchased. Representatives of the condominium declarant allegedly misled purchasers into believing the declarant had deposited \$1 million in the Association's reserve account. (CP 2093)

These are unique circumstances not likely to be repeated. Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate their petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY, IF THE COURT GRANTS PLAINTIFFS' PETITION, IT SHOULD ALSO REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS REGARDING SANCTIONS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES

If the Court accepts plaintiffs' petition, it should also review two additional issues decided by the Court of Appeals: (1) whether Marx/ Okubo is entitled to CR 11 sanctions against plaintiffs who reasserted claims after their testimony established the claims were meritless, and (2) whether Marx/Okubo is entitled to prevailing party attorneys' fees

under the doctrine of equitable estoppel. The Court of Appeals' ruling on each issue conflicts with decisions of this Court.

A. Marx/Okubo Was Entitled to CR 11 Sanctions Against Plaintiffs Who Reasserted Negligent Misrepresentation Claims After Testifying They Did Not Read and/or Rely on Marx/ Okubo's Reports.

Marx/Okubo sought sanctions against certain individual plaintiffs who reasserted negligent misrepresentation claims in their third amended complaint after they testified they either did not review or reviewed but did not rely on Marx/Okubo's reports. This Court ruled in Schaaf v. Highfield, 127 Wn.2d 17, 30-31, 896 P.2d 665 (1995), that reliance on false information is an essential element of a negligent misrepresentation claim. The Court of Appeals declined to follow Schaaf after concluding neither reading nor relying directly on Marx/Okubo's reports was an essential element of plaintiffs' negligent misrepresentation claims. Unpublished Decision, Court of Appeals No. 68127-3-I, at pp. 25-26 ("But Schaaf does not hold that a plaintiff must directly see or read a report in order to rely on it for purposes of a negligent misrepresentation claim.").

The Court of Appeals erred. In <u>Schaaf</u> this Court rejected a negligent misrepresentation claim against an appraiser, where plaintiff did not read the appraisal report before he purchased:

Even more compelling evidence that Schaaf did not rely on the appraiser's report is his admission in a letter that he did not even see the appraisal report until . . . more than a year <u>after</u> he bought the house. . . . Thus he could not possibly have directly relied on the report at the time of purchase.

Schaaf, supra, 127 Wn.2d at 31-32 (emphasis by Court). Because the Court of Appeals misread this Court's decision in Schaaf, its ruling on Marx/Okubo's request for CR 11 sanctions is error. Therefore, this Court should review the CR 11 issue if it accepts plaintiffs' petition.

B. Marx/Okubo Is Entitled to An Award of Attorneys' Fees Under RCW 4.84.330 and the Doctrine of Equitable Estoppel Where Plaintiffs Unsuccessfully Sought to Enforce Contractual Obligations Under an Agreement Containing an Attorneys' Fees Provision.

In <u>Townsend v. Quadrant Corp.</u>, 173 Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012), this Court held parties who sought to enforce rights under an agreement they were not parties to were equitably estopped from denying that a contractual arbitration provision in the agreement applied to them. <u>Townsend</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 460 ("Equitable estoppel precludes a party from claiming the benefits of a contract while simultaneously attempting to avoid the burdens that contract imposes."). Here, plaintiffs sought to enforce obligations and standard of care warranties that Marx/Okubo had assumed through its contract with Evans Development. See, e.g., CP (No. 68522-8) 908. These facts are directly analogous to those before this Court in <u>Townsend</u>. The Court of Appeals declined to enforce the attorneys' fees provision in Marx/Okubo's

contract. Therefore the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with this Court's ruling in Townsend. For that reason, this Court should review the RCW §4.84.330 attorneys' fees issue if it accepts review under plaintiffs' petition.

VII. **CONCLUSION**

Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate their petition satisfies a criteria for this Court's review established in RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, the petition should be denied. If this Court disagrees, it should also review the Court of Appeals decisions relating to CR 11 sanctions and RCW §4.84.330 attorneys' fees.